
 

 −1− 

 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - MAY 28, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

Board of Zoning Appeals:     Staff: 

Jim Maciejewski      Attorney Tim Kuiper 

Ken Schneider 

Joe Wachowski 

Peter Monix 

Dan Morang                  

 

 

CALL TO ORDER: 

 

The Board of Zoning Appeal meeting of April 23, 2008, was called to order by Chairman 

Jim Maciejewski at 7:10 p.m.  Jim Maciejewski, Ken Schneider, Peter Monix and Joe 

Wachowski were present.  Dan Morang was absent.   

 

 (The Pledge of Allegiance was said.) 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

There were no additions, corrections or deletions made to the minutes of the February 27, 

2008 and April 23, 2008, meetings.  Peter Monix made a motion to approve the minutes of 

February 27, 2008, as circulated.  Ken Schneider seconded the motion.  The motion was 

unanimously carried by voice vote. There were no discussion.   

Joe Wachowski made a motion to approve the minutes of April 23, 2008, as circulated.  

Jim Maciejewski seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously carried by voice vote (4/0). 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

A. LAKE FEDERAL SAVINGS - 10865 PARRISH AVENUE  

DEVELOPMENTAL TECHNICAL ORDINANCE 1271 

SECTION F -  PARAGRAPH 2 - ELECTRONIC READER  

BOARDS 

 

Larry Yurko, of Landmark Sign Group, appeared before the Board on behalf of  Lake 

Federal Savings seeking approval for the installation of a ground sign that would incorporate a  

double sided full color LED board.  He stated this sign would contain information regarding the 

types of services that the bank offered.  He stated that the Petitioner would operate the sign with 

appearing/disappearing messages.  He stated there would be no scrolling or flashing.  He stated 

the bank has many different services to offer and they believe this is an effective way to convey  



 

 −2− 

 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - MAY 28, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

the information to the general public.    

Jim Maciejewski stated that the LED board was in excess of the allowable square footage. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

The method of the calculation of the square footage was discussed by the Board.  Peter 

Monix asked Larry Yurko where the sign would be located.  Larry Yurko stated that the 

LED board would be located at the southwest corner of the lot.   

Ken Schneider asked what the bank was proposing for building signage.  Larry Yurko 

stated that the bank would have individual letters that would fall within the allowable square 

footage.  Jim Maciejewski stated that had he known that St. Anthony was going to pursue 

additional signage outside of what was already approved that it would have affected how he 

reviewed their previous sign.   

Mr. Maciejewski stated he was not comfortable in looking at this sign in the context of 

what has already approved.  He stated this sign is being presented as a sign for an entire complex 

or development, and he stated a sign for St. Anthony’s has already been reviewed.  He stated he 

did not think it was appropriate to review this sign again in absence of considering the St. 

Anthony’s sign.   Mr. Maciejewski stated all of this signage should have been addressed at the 

same time since it was going to be a comprehensive approach to signage for this corner.   

Mr. Maciejewski asked how far Martin’s corner was from the proposed sign.  He stated 

with no site plan it’s difficult to even consider.  Attorney Kuiper stated that the sign would have 

to be 200/250 feet away from the St. Anthony’s sign on Route 231. 

Mr. Maciejewski stated the Board has already expressed to the Petitioner, St. Anthony, 

their stance that they did not want to see a large electronic reader board on that path.  He stated 

he did not support this sign and saw no reason to deviate from the ordinance since the absence of 

this sign since there was no hardship presented. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Larry Yurko stated that he believed the bank has a just cause to be allowed an LED board. 

 He stated that he believed that Mr. Brad Teibel, the developer, had worked out with St. Anthony 

that they would have an area on the sign to advertise their business because they were an overall 

intricate part of the site.  Jim Maciejewski stated again that the sign should have been presented 

as signage approach for the entire development area as opposed to one piece at a time. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated that this proposal should be reviewed based on the thirty foot 

square sign, which makes it practically double that depending on how it’s measured. 



 

 −3− 

 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - MAY 28, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Attorney Kuiper stated that the ordinance applied to this site would be that the total gross 

area for all ground, wall and window signs on a zoning lot shall not exceed 100 square feet and 

the ground and monument sign underneath shall not exceed thirty square feet. 

Jim Maciejewski stated that whatever signage was contemplated in excess of what was on the 

building would place the Petitioner in non-compliance with the Town’s ordinance. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated he is not in support of the current sign.  Mr. Maciejewski stated, 

based upon what was reviewed and approved, the fact that the sign would be used for multiple 

developments, and that fact that no compelling hardship was presented he did not think the sign 

was necessary especially since it did not adhere to the Town’s ordinance.    

Mr. Maciejewski opened the floor to public comment.  Attorney Kuiper stated, for the 

record, that the all notices and publications were sent out and the meeting had been properly 

continued.  There was no public comment.  Mr. Maciejewski closed the floor to public comment. 

 Larry Yurko stated with no remonstrators coming forward he would request approval for the 

LED sign. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Ken Schneider stated he was in agreement with the Chairman in that he would not 

approve the proposed LED sign.  He stated that the Petitioner should review their signage and 

come back before the Board.   

Jerry S., 320 Persimmon, Schererville, President of Lake Federal Bank, asked the Board 

if they were stating if the St. Anthony’s sign were included in the proposed signage that would 

count towards their development.  Jim Maciejewski stated he objected it being there because it 

was not presented as a part of the development and their signage has already been reviewed.  The 

President of Lake Federal Bank asked the Board to defer the matter until the signage issue could 

be addressed and straightened out. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated that the way in which he interpreted the ordinance that this sign is 

a sign for a single development which would limit it to 30 square feet, a single lot.  He again 

stated he was against the size of the sign, and the use of the large reader board as the ordinance 

specifically prohibits reader boards.   

 



 

 −4− 

 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - MAY 28, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Joe Wachowski made a motion to defer this matter to the next meeting.  Peter Monix 

seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously carried by voice vote (4/0). 

 

B.  PETER GEOHEGAN - 8585 MONFORT DRIVE  

DEVELOPMENTAL TECHNICAL VARIANCE 

FOR OVERSIZED SHED 

 

Peter and Joanne Geohegan, Petitioners, appeared before the Board seeking a variance for 

an oversized shed.  He stated his reason for asking for the oversized shed was the amount of 

articles in the yard that warrant storage, especially in winter.  He stated he has two riding lawn 

mowers, patio furniture, outdoor toys and other articles that require storage.  

Jim Maciejewski stated he had driven past the site on this date and that the site plan does 

not appear to be accurate.   Mr. Geohegan stated that they were building on the original pad that 

had been poured.  Mr. Maciejewski stated it appeared to him that the shed is almost even or 

directly beside the house and much closer to the fence, which may be the property line. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.)    

 

Jim Maciejewski stated that plan submitted reflects that the shed is 7.8 feet away from the 

property line and it did not appear to be almost eight feet away when he drove by.  He stated it 

seemed to be closer than eight feet to the property line.  He stated the plan suggested it would be 

6.2 feet to the east of the corner of the residence and he said the shed did not appear to him to be 

that far back either.   

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Peter Geohegan stated that his best guess would be that there is approximately 3.5 feet 

between the shed and the fence.  Jim Maciejewski agreed.  Peter Geohegan stated that there was 

no scale on the plan and he drew it as best he could.   

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated a five linear foot side yard was a potential issue.  He stated the 

shed appeared to be closer than five feet to the property line.  He stated without the site plan 

being accurate it would be hard to ascertain whether this would be an issue or not.   

 

  



 

 −5− 

 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - MAY 28, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski asked the Petitioner if he could not get by with a 10x16 shed.  Mrs. 

Geohegan stated she needed the additional storage space.  Jim Maciejewski stated that the 

application would need to be amended to include the side yard variance as well.  Ken Schneider 

stated the ordinance calls for a 160 square foot shed. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski opened the floor for a public hearing.   

 

 PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Paul Muha - Mr. Muha stated he lives directly south of the Petitioners.  He stated he could 

empathize with the Petitioners as he never seems to have enough room.  He stated if he were to 

build a shed he would probably ask for a variance because it does not seem like 10x16 is big 

enough.  He stated he has seen what the Geohegans have and he hoped that the Board would 

grant the variance. 

Jim Maciejewski read a letter dated May 16, 2008, from Robert Alkire 8592 Monfort 

Drive,  into the record.  Mr. Alkire stated he was against the proposed application for the 

variance.  Mr. Alkire’s letter stated he lived directly across the street from the Geohegans.  He 

stated that Mr. Geohegan had previously applied for a variance for a garage/barn building years 

ago which he did not oppose.  He stated that this structure was built bigger than proposed.  He 

stated the building is quite large with a great capacity for storage in the lower and upper levels.  

He stated he did not see the need for another large outbuilding when the Geohegans’ current 

building appears to be large enough to meet storage needs.  Mr. Alkire stated another large 

building on the property would become an eyesore for the neighborhood. 

Randy Raab, 8570 Monfort Drive - Mr. Raab stated he lived across the street from the 

Geohegans.  He stated he was not opposed to the shed being built in the proposed location. 

Doris, 8550 Monfort Drive - Doris stated she has a shed that holds three patio sets that have to be 

taken apart to be stored.  She stated it is jam packed.  She stated she is not opposed to the 

proposed shed. 

Dean Magutos, 8721 Madison Drive - He stated he has a large garage and he does not need a 

shed.  He stated if his garage was smaller he would need a shed.  He stated he believes the 

Geohegans need a shed, and knowing them personally, he thinks it would be tastefully done. 

Mr. Maciejewski called for additional public comment.  There was no further public 

comment.  The public hearing was closed. 

Attorney Kuiper informed the Board that the matter had been advertised properly and 

notices were sent out to adjacent property owners. 



 

 −6− 

 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - MAY 28, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

Joe Wachowski asked Mr. Geohegan if he had knocked the previous shed down or was it 

gone before he moved in there.  Mr. Geohegan stated he tore it down as it was old and not safe.  

Jim Maciejewski asked how the previous shed was.  Mr. Geohegan stated he did not know. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated he does not like where the proposed shed is situated.  He stated it 

looks awkward where it sits.  He stated if it was in the rear yard where most sheds are it would 

not look as out of place as it does.  He stated he believed the west edge of the shed is actually 

alongside the house.   

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated the application would be amended to include the side yard 

variance.  Attorney Kuiper recommended that the Board require an accurate site plan in order to 

amend and/or grant a side yard variance.  He stated it was the Board’s discretion whether or not 

they considered the side yard variance since it was not a part of the original application.  Attorney 

Kuiper stated it would then be the Petitioners’ responsibility to ensure that there was five feet 

between the side yard and the building.  Mr. Maciejewski stated he would leave this decision up 

to whatever Board member made the motion whether or not to approve or deny the 

developmental technical variance. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 

Joe Wachowski made a motion to approve the variance for the oversized shed strictly in 

size.  Ken Schneider seconded the motion.  A roll call vote was taken.  Jim Maciejewski - no;  

Joe Wachowski - yes; Peter Monix - yes; Ken Schneider - yes.  The motion was carried by roll 

call vote (3/1). 

Jim Maciejewski asked if there was any further motion regarding the side yard variance.  

There was no further discussion.  Jim Maciejewski stated the developmental technical variance 

for the oversized shed was granted.  Joe Wachowski asked that the findings of fact be  

incorporated into the record along with his motion granting the developmental technical variance 

for the oversized shed. 

Jim Maciejewski stated since there was no motion or approval on the side yard the side 

yard measurement would have to be verified to ascertain whether or not the Petitioners were in 

compliance with the Town’s ordinance of five feet. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.) 

 



 

 −7− 

 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - MAY 28, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated that the Board was not comfortable granting the side yard 

variance without knowing what exactly it is along the side yard.  He told the Petitioners that the 

Board felt it was appropriate that they determine what the placement of the shed is and ensure 

that it was in compliance with the Town’s side yard ordinance.   

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

 

A. HANDS ON PREMIUM CAR WASH - 8445 WICKER  

AVENUE - LETTER OF CONTINUANCE 

 

Jim Maciejewski stated under Old Business there was a letter from Hands On Premium 

Car Wash requesting a continuance to hold the matter open.  Joe Wachowski made a motion to 

grant the continuance for Hands On Premium Car Wash; Peter Monix seconded the motion.  A 

roll call vote was taken.  Jim Maciejewski - yes; Joe Wachowski - yes; Peter Monix - yes; Ken 

Schneider - yes.  The motion to continue was unanimously passed by roll call vote (4/0). 

Attorney Kuiper recommended that the Board send a letter to the Petitioner that this would be the 

final continuance since this was the third continuance.  The Board stated that this would be the 

final continuance granted to Hands On Premium Car Wash.  The Board authorized its attorney to 

relay this message to the Town Manager, Steve Kil. 

 

 (General discussion ensued.)   

 

ANY AND ALL: 

 

Ken Schneider asked if anyone knew why the sign was taken down in front of Auburn for 

Ravenswood.  Mike Forbes stated that the new sign that had been installed had fallen down.   

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

Peter Monix made a motion to adjourn; Ken Schneider seconded the motion.  The motion 

was unanimously carried by voice vote (4/0). 

 

 (The meeting was adjourned at 8:14 p.m.) 

 

A TRUE COPY 

 

__________________________________________ 

SUSAN E. WRIGHT, RECORDING SECRETARY 

ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 



 

 −8− 

 


